CHAPTER 9  
Doncaster to York by the Western Route 

To trace the western route, we must go back to the outskirts of Doncaster where the modern A19 struck off towards Selby, through Bentley.  The stage from Doncaster to Ferrybridge was a long one at 15¼ miles and the way was not easy, including several steep hills.  The road from the roundabout on the north side of the River Don is now the A638 and it follows the Roman road to York Bar, where the Barnsley road forks to the left and where the tollgate stood until 1879.  The roads diverge here, with the A638 going through Adwick le Street and continuing to Red House, the site of a coaching inn, where it meets the line of the Roman road again and the long Doncaster bypass motorway, and where some of the Leeds coaches took the Wakefield road going off to the left.  
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York Bar, where the Barnsley road forks off to the left, in 1901.  The turnpike gate was removed in 1879.

Two miles farther on, partly hidden in a layby on the right, is Robin Hood's Well.  The heavily rusticated stone structure that covers it, recently cleaned and repaired after being vandalised, is, rather surprisingly, by Vanburgh, the architect of Castle Howard, who built both for the Earl of Carlisle.  Evelyn stopped here in 1664, before Vanburgh's structure was built, and reported:  "We now all alighted in the high Way, to drink at a Christal Spring, which they call Robinhoods Well, neere it is a Stone Chaire, and an iron Ladle to drink out of Chain'd to the (Seate)."
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Robin Hood’s Well, designed by Vanburgh, an ancient landmark standing in a layby.  The Robin Hood Inn remains as a farmhouse, but the New Inn was demolished to make way for road widening.

There were once two inns here, the Robin Hood and the New Inn, and the mails and fast coaches were horsed here.  The New Inn can still be seen, though it is now a farmhouse, but the other inn disappeared during road widening.  The whole area, known as Barnsdale Forest, was heavily wooded and was the haunt of outlaws, including Robin Hood. At Barnsdale Bar, a mile and a half farther on, the Roman road swings left and here some more of the Leeds coaches went off towards Pontefract.  The turnpike gatehouse was the last extant on the Great North Road according to Sir William Addison and was still there in 1980 when he wrote; some stones which may be its remains can just be seen in the long grass at the fork.  We cross the high ground which was lonely and windswept in the coaching days, from which Thoresby could see York Minster, and meet the Wentbridge bypass two miles on.  
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The Blue Bell, Wentbridge, the successor to an inn which was a halt for drovers and claimed to be the oldest on the Greta North Road.   Compare with the illustration in Part I Chapter 5.

The old road, now blocked, went straight on down the steep hill into the Went valley and the village.  Passengers had to get out and walk up both the hills, north and south of the village, though the drivers did their best to get a run up by letting their horses go, "springing" them, when half way down the hill.  Passengers walking uphill were prey to the thieves who frequented Barnsdale Forest; these rogues hung out in the Old Blue Bell, which is dated 1633 but which is probably the successor to an even older inn, which lost its licence for harbouring poachers and footpads at the end of the 16th Century.  The Old Blue Bell claims to be the oldest inn on the Road, though it was not used by coaches, appealing rather to the drovers.  The Bay Horse, no longer there, was not a coaching inn either but rather a posting house.  In the motoring age, the hills especially the one on the north of the village  - "a very steepe hill" says Celia Fiennes - continued to present a problem to traffic and it was a great relief when the bypass, with its high viaduct over the valley, was opened in 1961.

Climbing out of Wentbridge, the old road goes through a cutting made in the 1830s; before that it snaked up the hill and parts of it can be seen to the right of the road.  Until it was bypassed in 1980, Darrington was on the main road with a roundabout at the junction with a minor road.  Pevsner mentions the church of St Luke and All Saints as being one of the most satisfying in the West Riding, built of white magnesian limestone and with a dovecot in the churchyard, now part of a private house.
  Darrington achieved some fame in the early 1930s when a mile of the road between Darrington and Ferrybridge was converted into the first dual carrigeway on the entire Great North Road.  The road crosses a ridge and then descends to the M62 junction and the Ferrybridge services, with the skyline dominated by the eight cooling towers of the power station which is fired by coal from the surrounding pits and which was completed in 1960.  Before it could be built, the church, parts of which date from the 12th Century, was moved out of its way to its present site, where a lack of memorials in the churchyard is the only visible clue to its transfer.  The new A1 crosses the River Aire and John Carr's old bridge in one sweep.  In ancient times there was a ferry here as the name implies but there was a bridge by 1461, when the Battle of Towton was fought.  Carr's bridge, which was used up until the 1960s, was built at the end of the 18th Century and it replaced an old narrow structure with rotten piles and wooden buttresses.  The Romans crossed the Aire at Castleford, some 3 miles to the west.  Ferrybridge was an important stage, as various routes from Leeds to the east crossed the Great North Road here and it was a very busy place in coaching times as many people came here by private carriage to board the Mails and other coaches. It also attracted extra traffic as it was just before the road forked at Brotherton. 
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The Toll House and the bridge over the Aire at Ferrybridge, the latter framed by the new concrete bridge, both designed by John Carr of York.  The cooling towers of the power station, a landmark on the road, can be seen in the background in both photographs.

The Angel was the largest inn, and was kept in the late 18th Century by Dr George Alderson, a doctor of medicine and son of a vicar.  He horsed the Highflyer and the Leeds Union coaches and, going south, the two Royal Mails that came this way; going north they were horsed by Thomas Hall, who owned the Swan on the north side of the bridge - the best inn on the road, according to Sir Walter Scott - but who kept his stables at the Angel with Alderson.  There were two other inns here, the Greyhound, which horsed the Rockingham and the Express (Leeds and London) coach, and the Golden Lion, which with its wharf on the Aire was the place for heavy waggons to stop; it was also the drovers' stopping place; it still stands under the flyover.  

From Ferrybridge going north, there was, according to Defoe, "a large stone causeway, above a mile in length, to a town call'd Brotherton."  This was the stretch of road for the repair of which the Bishop of Durham offered indulgences in the 14th Century.
  Leland, travelling south in the middle of the 16th Century, wrote: "From Brotherton I took the stone causeway which runs about a mile to Ferrybridge, and which has several bridges under it to drain off water into the river from the low-lying meadows along the left bank of the Aire."   Edward I's son, Thomas, was born in Brotherton, the Queen going into labour while hunting.  The new road runs over the route of the old to Brotherton, though it passes through a cutting slightly to the west of the Fox, the old drovers' inn, which stood on the junction of the Tadcaster and York road; the present pub is a modern replacement. This was where the Highflyer (London to Edinburgh) and the Wellington (London to Newcastle) coaches turned off for York; so did the Edinburgh Royal Mail from 1786 until 1832 when it changed to the Selby route for the last few years of its existence.  We shall follow this route from here to York before reverting to the Wetherby road.   

For fast coaches, there were two short stages on this stretch of road: Brotherton to Sherburn and on to Tadcaster, each six miles.  The road (now the A162) passed through Burton Salmon, later an important railway junction, to the west of Monk Fryston, through South Milford and into Sherburn in Elmet, both of which are now bypassed to the east.  In Sherburn the coaching inn was the Red Bear, where the Mails changed, converting a 12 mile stage into two of six each.  All Saints church has a 15th Century Janus Cross, so called because it is carved on both sides.  Jenkins tells how the cross was found in the churchyard and ownership was disputed between the then vicar and a churchwarden; this resulted in the cross being cut in half in vertical section, with one half being taken home by the churchwarden.  Both halves now hang side by side in the south aisle chapel.  From there the road continued due north past Barkston Ash and Scarthingwell Hall, now a golf and leisure centre but once the family home of Lord Hawke, a famous captain of Yorkshire Cricket Club, and close to the battlefield of Towton Field, where a Wars of the Roses battle took place on Palm Sunday 1461, said to be the bloodiest battle on English soil, with over 30,000 dead, though modern research suggests that there were far fewer combatants and casualties.  The Yorkists had already effectively won the war, as Edward IV had assumed the crown, but this battle marked the end for the Lancastrians; their stronghold, York, fell that day too.  There is a legend that a unique type of dwarf wild rose, white with red spots, grew here, though it is no longer to be seen.  There is an anonymous poem about these roses, the first verse of which is:


Oh, the red and white rose, upon Towton Moor it grows,


And red and white it blows upon that swarthe for evermore,


In memorial of the slaughter, when the red blood ran like water 


And the victors gave no quarter in the flight from Towton Moor.

The road enters the village of Towton, called "Godless" by Harper, as it has no church, and used to turn left there to skirt the Grimston Park estate, crossing the Cock Beck, which was said to have run red for several days after the Battle of Towton, and then swinging round to the north east to pass to the west of Stutton.  On the ordnance survey map the track along this line is named "Old London Road".  This road was rebuilt on the present line towards the end of the 18th Century and it was quite new in 1792 when Byng passed this way:  "Passing Towton village, where is a long extent of wide, new-made road, for the benefit of the hasty passenger, but not for the satisfaction of a quiet traveller, who loves the twine, and the shade, and the view sometimes caught, but not the great endless staring road.  This new road now leads magnificently into Tadcaster..."
  Grimston Park was built in 1840 by Decimus Burton in Italianate style for Lord Howden and his Russian wife.
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Old London Road, Towton, near Tadcaster, which was replaced by a new, more direct road in the late 18th Century following the line of the present day A162.

The road entered Tadcaster, where it crossed the River Wharfe, from the south west.  Leland wrote: 

Tadcaster Bridge, which crosses the Wharfe by eight fine stone arches, was last rebuilt according to some people, using part of the ruined masonry of the old castle at Tadcaster.  A massive hill, with ditches and the enclosure of this castle, may still be seen beside the Wharfe a little above the bridge.  From its site it seems that it must have been a most imposing structure.   

There is now no sign of the castle, perhaps because the rest of its masonry was used for other building works, though the Ordnance Survey map shows a Motte and Bailey, nor is Leland's bridge extant as the present one dates from the 18th Century and was widenened in the 19th. There were two coaching inns next door to each other in the High Street.   The Angel was run by Matthew Kidd, father and son, who horsed the Royal Mails, though the horses were kept at the Rose and Crown, on the other side of the river.  Next door to the Angel was the White Horse, managed by William Backhouse, though owned by Lord Londesborough.  He later bought the Angel from the younger Kidd and renamed the White Horse the Londesborough Arms.  The White Horse has been converted into shops and the Angel, which was closed at one time, is now back in business, rather confusingly called the Angel & White Horse.  On its western side is a fine red brick building, the Old Brewery of Samuel Smith, one of three breweries in the town.   The White Horse in its heyday horsed the Wellington and the Highflyer, four coaches a day.  The Leeds to Scarborough coach, the True Briton, was horsed by William Lodge at the Rose and Crown, of which there is now no sign.  
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Bradley’s drawing of the two adjacent Tadcaster inns, still recognisable.

From Tadcaster the road followed the route of the present A64 to where the modern York bypass starts just east of Copmanthorpe and then entered the City over the Knavesmire or Micklegate Stray, scene of many medieval executions and now the home of York racecourse.  The gallows was still there when Byng visited York in 1792: "Approaching York I left the Race Course, Knavesmire, to the right where the opposite object to the Great Stand is the Gallows!!!  Which may be a view of improvement and a good hint for such a station, but yet, surely, it might be concealed, or else removed; and why not a Gallowes portable?"
  The spot is marked today by a stone with the simple inscription “Tyburn”.

The road follows The Mount and Blossom Street, past the Bar Convent, formerly a girls’ school, identified by Jefferys on his 1771 map as a Nunnery.  It enters the city walls at Micklegate Bar and descends Micklegate, crossing Ouse Bridge and following Low 
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York racecourse from the air. 

Ousegate, where most of the coaches turned left into Spurriergate, which leads to Coney Street and rejoins the eastern route.   The coaches coming into York from the Tadcaster road were observed by the local lads sitting on the parapet of Ouse Bridge, says Bradley.

How the Mails would come sweeping over the bridge and whip around the corner into Spurriergate and along the narrow confined street to the Swan and the Tavern was wonderful, whilst the coachman's skill, that could turn four bright bays round the corner of the Commercial Coffee House and out of Nessgate into Coppergate (which is so crooked and narrow that the houses on either side almost touch) and over the rough cobbles to the White Horse, was nothing short of marvellous, and needed such finished artists as rash Tom Holtby and scientific James Douglas to manipulate the ribbons.

Ouse Bridge was swept away by a flood in 1565, and was rebuilt as a single arch with shops on it two years later.  For some time, this was the longest single span in Europe.  The present Ouse Bridge was built between 1810 and 1820.
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